APPENDIX A
NOTICE OF VIOLATION

East Stroudsburg State College Docket No. 030-13001
East Stroudsburg, Pa. 18301 License No. 37-13323-02

As a result of the inspection conducted on February 8, 1985, and in accordance
with the NRC Enforcement Policy (10 CFR 2, Appendix C), the following violations
were identified:

A. 10 CFR 20.301 requires that no licensee dispose of licensed material except
by certain specified procedures,

Contrary to the above, as of February 8, 1985, licensed material on
absorbent paper, test tubes, and other glassware has been disposed of
tu the normal trash, a method not authorized by 10 CFR 20.301.

This is a Severity Level IV violation. (Supplement IV)

B. Condition 18 of License No. 37-13323-02 requires that licensed material
be possessed and used in accordance with the statements, representations
and procedures contained in an application dated September 28, 1982 and
a letter cated November 24, 1982.

Item No. 4 of the letter dated November 24, 1982 recuires that packages
be received and opened according to the procedures described therein.
These procedures include a package survey and wipe tests.

Contrary to the above, as of February 8, 1985, none c¢f the required
surveys or tests were performed on incoming packages.

This is a Severity Level IV violation. (Supplement VI)

C. 10 CFR 20.401(b) requires that each licensee maintain records showing the
results of surveys required by 10 CFR 20.201(b).

Contrary to the above, as of February 8, 1985, records were not maintained
of surveys performed to assure compliance with 20.101. Specifically, film
badge records were not maintained since 1981.

This is a Severity Level V violation. (Supplement VI)

D. 10 CFR 30.51(a) requires that each licensee keep records showing the
receipt, transfer, export, and disposal of licensed material.

Contrary to the above, as of February 8, 1985, the required records of the
receipt and disposal of licensed material had not been kept.

This is a Severity Level V violation. (Supplement IV)
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Appendix A 2

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, East Stroudsberg State College 1is
hereby required to submit to this office within thirty days of the date of the
letter which transmitted this Notice, a written statement or explanation in
reply, including: (1) the corrective steps which have been taken and the re-
sults achieved; (2) corrective steps which will be taken to avoid further viola-
tions; and (3) the date when full compliance will be achieved. Where good

cause is shown, consideration will be given to extending this response time.

OFFICIAL RECORD COPY IR E STROUDSBURG 85-C1 -~ 0008.0.0
07/24/85



